

Mental Health Screening:

Strategies and Best Practices for Community Colleges









Contributing Authors

Timothy Rhodes, MSW, MPH

MHICC Research Assistant
University of Michigan School of Public Health

Alex Ammann, MPH

MHICC Project Coordinator
University of Michigan School of Public Health

Amy Rusch, MPH

Doctoral Candidate
University of Michigan School of Public Health

Sara Abelson, PhD, MPH

MHICC Principal Investigator

Assistant Professor and Senior Director for Education and Training Services The Hope Center for Student Basic Needs, Temple University Lewis Katz School of Medicine

Shawna N. Smith, PhD

MHICC Principal Investigator
Associate Professor of Health Management and Policy
University of Michigan School of Public Health

MHICC Mission Statement

The Mental Health Improvement through Community Colleges (MHICC) team works to improve the availability, accessibility, and equitable distribution of mental health resources for community college students across the state of Michigan.

Funding

This project was supported by funds from Center of Medicare and Medicaid Services through the Michigan Department of Health and Human Services, the Michigan Health Endowment Fund, NIH through the IMPACT Center at the University of Washington, the Blue Cross Blue Shield Foundation of Michigan, and the John G. Searle Professorship at the University of Michigan School of Public Health.

Disclaimer

This toolkit was created by the Mental Health Improvement through Community Colleges (MHICC) initiative to assist Michigan community colleges in implementing evidence-based mental health screening strategies on their campuses. The information contained in this toolkit is for general guidance. In all cases, readers should use discretion and seek advice from licensed mental health professionals familiar with mental health screening tools and strategies when developing and administering screening strategies.

Executive Summary

Mental health screening is an important component of a comprehensive approach to supporting student mental health. However, many approaches to mental health screening that are implemented in K-12 schools or at residential 4-year universities don't translate to community college contexts, given differences in school structure, student demographics, and available resources. With this in mind, this toolkit provides actionable mental health screening strategies that are specific to community college contexts, taking into account the unique strengths and challenges of Michigan community colleges. In addition, this toolkit outlines best practices for developing and implementing a mental health screening strategy on a college campus. Lastly, a curated list of empirically supported screening tools that can be used by mental health clinicians and other higher education practitioners is provided.

Contents

Introduction	4
Background	4
Defining Mental Health Screening	4
Benefits of Mental Health Screening	5
Screening Strategies	6
Universal Screening	6
Opportunistic Screening	7
Targeted ("Selective") Screening	8
Screening Best Practices	10
Empirically Supported Screening Tools	15
Additional Resources	17
References	18
Acknowledgements	20

INTRODUCTION

Background:

Research indicates that more than half of community college students are experiencing symptoms of a diagnosable mental health disorder. ^{1,2,3} Yet, the majority of these students do not receive or access the treatment services they need and deserve. ^{3,4} Untreated, mental health challenges may negatively impact student success outcomes such as grade point average and degree completion. ^{5,6,7} Therefore, the early identification and referral of students experiencing mental or emotional distress is critical for connecting students with the appropriate resources, services, and treatments that will enhance their holistic success and well-being.

Defining Mental Health Screening:

Mental health screening is the systematic process of identifying students experiencing signs of mental or emotional distress that might be associated with a mental health condition and referring these students to relevant resources and care. Screening can be conducted for a variety of mental health challenges, including depression, anxiety, substance use, suicidal ideation, and post-traumatic stress.

Though often used interchangeably, mental health *screening* and mental health *assessment* are two unique practices that are important to distinguish. *Screening* is conducted at the population level with the intended outcome of recognizing and referring students who may need additional support and resources. Mental health screening is not a tool for clinical diagnosis and does not result in the formal diagnosis of a mental health disorder. Screening does not have to be administered by a licensed mental health professional; Screening can be conducted by any trained individual or can be completed independently by students.

On the contrary, mental health assessment is the clinical process of formally assessing for the presence of a specific mental health disorder. Assessment is conducted at the individual level among those who have already been recognized as experiencing signs of distress. Assessment is typically conducted for the purpose of formally diagnosing an individual with a mental health disorder and can only be done by a licensed mental health provider. While assessment is an important element of mental health care, this toolkit focuses specifically on mental health screening.

Benefits of Mental Health Screening:

Many students on college campuses are experiencing symptoms of a mental health disorder and would benefit from mental health services, yet have never accessed these services at their college or elsewhere. Screening is a key strategy to identify these students and help connect them with the most relevant forms of care. Given individual mental health needs are unique and evolve over time, screening can help identify and match students with the right level of support at the right time.

In addition to referring students to resources and treatment, implementing strategic mental health screening processes within colleges can offer the opportunity to:



Develop a datainformed understanding of the prevalence of certain mental health challenges among students



Destigmatize mental health by embedding conversations about mental health and help seeking within the campus culture



Inform campus health promotion and prevention strategies



Drive equitable innovation in campus support services by identifying disparities in student mental health and service utilization

Therefore, implementing mental health screening as part of a comprehensive approach to supporting student mental health offers benefits beyond the individual level by driving system, practice, and cultural changes, supporting a public health framework for promoting student mental health. In short, screening students does more than identify students in need of support, but plays a key role in fostering a health promoting campus.

Example from the field

The quote below illustrates how one Michigan college is using screening to cultivate a culture of health promotion among their staff and students.

"It's so great when we can connect students to mental health resources and help get them into care because of our screenings. However, in my eyes, the real benefit of offering mental health screens is being able to break down some stigma by raising awareness of mental health challenges and getting people talking about it. When we ask students to complete a screen, we always frame it by saying, "Do you have a few minutes to fill out a short mental health screener? It's really useful for helping keep our campus healthy." Because it's about more than just connecting that one student with any resources they might need, but about creating a campus culture that's focused on prioritizing and supporting one another's well-being."

-Melissa Selby-Theut, Associate Director of the Grand Valley State University Counseling Center

SCREENING STRATEGIES

There are a number of strategies that colleges can use to screen students for mental health challenges. Some screening strategies are designed to reach all students, whereas other screening strategies are focused on reaching a targeted sub-group of students. In this section, three approaches to screening are discussed: Universal Screening, Opportunistic Screening, and Targeted ("Selective") Screening. For each approach, actionable screening strategies that might be implemented in a community college setting are described.

Within each screening approach outlined below, there can still be huge variance in how screening is implemented. For example, some screens are directly administered by trained staff, whereas others are completed by the student independently and/or electronically. When considering which screening strategies your college may implement, it's important to weigh factors such as your college's size, available resources, and student needs. Further considerations for selecting a screening strategy that's right for your campus can be found in the "Screening Best Practices" section of this toolkit.

Universal Screening

Screening is considered "universal" when delivered to an *entire* population, rather than a smaller, more specific subset of the population. Universal screening typically occurs during a predetermined period, such as at the start of the academic year. Examples of universal screening on a community college campus may include screening all students enrolled at the college, screening all incoming students, or screening all students in a given course.

Research points to universal screening as a best practice among college students, youth, and young adults, given the reach and opportunity for early detection that universal screening presents. ^{9,10,11} In addition, universal screening can capture individuals who might not engage with campus support services, where other screening efforts often occur.

However, common barriers to implementing universal mental health screening often include:

- (a) a lack of needed resources,
- (b) limited knowledge about how to carry out a universal screening program, and
- (c) concerns about meeting an increased demand for services resulting from screening.¹²

These barriers may be particularly prevalent at community colleges, creating challenges for the feasibility of adopting a universal screening strategy. While this toolkit cannot improve resource constraints at a college, the subsequent section, "Screening Best Practices," provides guidance for carrying out a screening program as well as considerations for ensuring students have access to appropriate mental health resources following screens.

Opportunistic Screening

Opportunistic screening occurs during chance encounters with students. Unlike universal screening, opportunistic screening is not meant to capture an entire population, and instead aims to screen students that simply have the opportunity to engage with the screening materials due to outside factors not associated with mental health (i.e., students are at the right place at the right time). While opportunistic screening may conveniently capture many students, students who are less engaged with campus spaces, events, and services may be less likely to be screened in this approach.

Examples of opportunistic screening strategies that may be implemented on a community college campus include:



Offering screening at campus events

Similar to how colleges may promote student opportunities during various campus events (i.e., "tabling"), offering mental health screens through "tabling" at campus events offers the unique opportunity to engage students and connect them with resources.

Making screens available through campus common spaces

Providing convenient access to screens through campus common spaces can be achieved in a number of ways. Some colleges strategically place stickers, magnets, fliers, or art installations featuring a QR code for students to scan that will take them directly to a free and confidential mental health screening tool. Some colleges have implemented semi-private kiosks that allow students to complete an electronic mental health screening any time they pass the kiosk.





Conducting mental health "screening days"

Having dedicated days each semester where screening stations are set up in commonly trafficked areas of campus can raise awareness for mental health and the importance of screening, while allowing staff to engage with all students willing to stop and complete a screen.

Screening in student health centers

Mental health screening has become common within healthcare settings, with many primary care offices delivering brief mental health screens to all patients. College health centers are often the most accessible sites for students to seek healthcare, and therefore, serve as an ideal setting to screen students for mental health conditions if your college has a student health center on campus.



Targeted ("Selective") Screening

Selective screening targets students at elevated risk for mental health challenges. Unlike universal screening, targeted screening is not meant to capture an entire population. Targeted screening is also different from opportunistic screening in that it's focused solely on screening students at elevated risk for mental health challenges, rather than a random sample from the student body. A major benefit of targeted screening is the ability to engage with students who may have the greatest need of mental health support. However, students who may need lower levels of support may be missed through this approach, which can lead to these students' mental health symptoms worsening or remaining undetected.

While there are various ways that students can be deemed at elevated risk, one approach to categorizing this is through their use of campus resources that are correlated with mental health challenges. Following this approach, potential locations that targeted screening could occur on a community college campus might include:



Academic advising

Academic distress can frequently be exacerbated by or correlated with mental health challenges. Academic advising is oftentimes the first place students go when they're experiencing academic distress, therefore creating an opportunity for early identification of students in need of mental health support among those at elevated risk.

Student success coaching

Similar to academic advising, students who present to campus success coaches for sub-clinical wellness coaching may be at elevated risk of experiencing mental health challenges. Screening students who engage with success coaching staff offers the ability to identify additional mental health supports that these students may need.





Mental health related campus events

Students who attend campus wide mental health events, training sessions, and other related programming may be experiencing mental health challenges themselves. Given this, offering mental health screenings to attendees may be a way to connect these students in need with additional supports and resources.

Food pantries and other basic needs resources

Students struggling to meet basic needs are often experiencing mental health challenges either in addition to or correlated with their basic needs challenges. While students engaging with basic needs resources, such as campus food pantries, are receiving assistance with these needs, they may not be receiving support for their mental health needs.





TRIO events

Many community college campuses participate in TRIO programs, which are federally funded programs aimed at supporting and motivating first generation students, low-income students, and students with disabilities. Connecting students to additional support and resources by screening for mental health challenges at TRIO events offers an opportunity to further support their holistic success.

Veteran services

Some colleges offer veteran affairs resources for veterans on campus to receive specialized guidance, services, and support. Given the high prevalence rates of mental health challenges among veterans, 16,17 conducting mental health screening among students engaging with veterans services offers a targeted approach to capturing students at elevated risk.





Faculty offices

College instructors often report that they're the first person a student discloses signs of a mental health challenge to.⁷ Therefore, training college faculty or staff on how to screen students they engage with for mental health challenges offers a unique opportunity to equip these individuals with better tools to support students' mental health.

Screening Strategies Summary



Each approach to screening discussed in this section - universal, opportunistic, and targeted - have specific strengths and limitations that should be weighed when considering what screening strategies may be the best fit for your college. The next section of this toolkit walks readers through the process of developing and implementing a screening strategy, which will shine additional light on factors that may influence the screening strategies employed at your college.

SCREENING BEST PRACTICES

Below are a series of best practices for developing and implementing a mental health screening process at your college. These best practices are listed in the general order in which decisions are likely to be made, though it should be noted that creating a screening process is often iterative and cyclical in nature.



Engage Relevant Stakeholders

The first step in developing a mental health screening process is to assemble a work team who will assist with the screening process. Consider mental health professionals, college faculty, and administrative staff who may have relevant knowledge, interest, or experience with student mental health. In

some cases, your college may choose to collaborate with mental health agencies or service providers in the local community in order to leverage external expertise or momentum.

In addition, it's imperative to generate buy-in and support from college administrators and leaders. Sharing any existing data on student mental health at your college and illuminating gaps in your college's current screening process may be helpful in generating buy-in from these stakeholders. Aligning your campus's screening process with institutional goals or priorities may also be beneficial in garnering support from campus leaders and administrators.

Establish Clear Goals

Critical thought should be given to what your college's primary goals and intended outcomes for the screening process are. This will help inform screening logistics including the screening tools and modalities used. The goals of your college's screening process should be informed by data on student

mental health at your college as well as the priorities and directions of your college. Without establishing clear goals, a screening process may not match the needs or priorities of the campus community and may struggle with being too broad or narrow in scope.

Example:

If one goal of your college's screening strategy is to increase student awareness of campus mental health services, developing a screening program that allows for student interface with your college's mental health professionals may be more beneficial in achieving this goal than a screening program where students independently complete electronic screens.

Example:

If one goal of your college's screening strategy is to collect data on the prevalence of student mental health challenges, it will be critical to implement a screening program that allows for college staff to view aggregated screen results.



Define Logistics

Once the overarching goals and objectives of the screening process have been identified, specific logistics that will impact future steps should be clarified.

These may include:

- Establishing a timeline for when the screening process will be implemented
- Determining the budget allocated to the screening process
- Deciding which screening strategy/strategies that will be prioritized (see the "Screening Strategies" section of this toolkit for examples)
- Define the preferred screening modalities (i.e., self-administered vs. professionally administered, electronically administered vs. administered in person)
- Clarify whether screens will be anonymous or whether college staff will have access to respondents' identifying information.

When establishing your screening timeline, you might consider the impact of the academic calendar on students' mental health.



Certain time frames, (such as during exam seasons or at the end of the semester) tend to be associated with higher levels of distress in students, which may lead to higher rates of reporting mental health symptoms on screening. On the contrary, screening at the very start of the academic year may lead to lower reporting on screens since students' academic distress is typically lower during this time.

While there is no right or wrong time to screen students, you may consider using your college's academic calendar to implement screening at a time that aligns with the goals and priorities of your college's screening goals.



Select Validated Screening Tools

Colleges should always use screening tools that are reliable, valid, and evidence based. In order to assist with this process, a curated selection of evidence based screening tools can be found at the end of this toolkit.

When selecting which screening tools to implement, consider the aforementioned logistics of your college's screening process in order to ensure the tools are a fit for your college. Specific factors that may be considered include:

- Is the screening tool free to use?
 - If not, how much will the screening tool cost to use at your college? Will your college's budget for the screening process allow for this?

- How is the screening tool administered?
 - Will the screening tool be self-administered by students or administered by a professional?
 - Will the tool be administered electronically or via pen and paper?
- Does the focus of the screening tool match the goals and intended outcomes of the screening process?
- Does the screening tool allow college staff to view individual or aggregate student responses in order to understand student data and respond to students in need of support, or are the screens completely anonymous?
- Is the screening tool age appropriate for your campus's student population?
- Is the screening tool culturally reflective of your college's student demographics?
- Is the screening tool available in multiple languages?
 - o Do the available languages match the demographics of your student body?



Determine Consent Requirements & Processes

While there's significant debate surrounding the importance of informed consent in screening programs, ¹⁸ it's important for your college to determine to what extent consent is needed for students on your campus to complete the mental health screening process being implemented. Given the number of high school students who dual enroll

at community colleges, an important consideration is whether students under 18 will be screened as part of your college's mental health screening process, and whether parental consent will be needed for these students. Additionally, if your college plans to use data from student screens for purposes beyond connecting students to resources (such as using aggregated data to understand the prevalence of mental health conditions at your college), additional consent may be needed from students.



Develop Processes for Data Collection

The process of screening students for mental health concerns should always prioritize privacy, confidentiality, and accuracy of information. When administering screens, consider how the process is ensuring that student responses are private, as well as how the process may

contribute to honest and accurate responses from students. In addition, it's important to consider how/where data from students' screens will be stored, how this impacts privacy of the data, and whether this aligns with regulations from the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) and the Family Education Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA), if applicable. Finally, in centering equity, your college may consider whether the process of collecting and storing data will allow for data to be disaggregated (e.g., by race, ethnicity, or gender) in order to better understand what disparities and inequities exist among students.





It's critical that your college have a clear plan of what to do when students' screens indicate various mental health conditions or challenges. This means having a concrete referral process in place for services that address various needs that may arise from the screening process. This may include referring students to on-campus mental

health resources, referring students to off-campus service providers in the local community, or a combination of both internal and external referrals. Therefore, ensure all staff who play a role in administering the screening have access to a comprehensive and up-to-date list of internal and external resources for students.

As previously mentioned, the fear of being unable to meet an increased demand for mental health services resulting from screening often prevents colleges from implementing screening strategies. However, referring students to off-campus providers through established referral pathways can ensure students have access to the appropriate mental health services, even if your college doesn't have the capacity to provide these services internally. For more information on creating partnerships with local mental health providers, refer to the MHICC Toolkit <u>Developing Memoranda of Understanding: A "How-to" Guide for Creating Formal Partnerships with Local Mental Health Providers.</u>



Define Communication and Follow Up Procedures

In addition to ensuring students have access to mental health treatment and support upon completing a screen, your college should define the protocol for following up with students who had elevated scores on their screen. This process will vary depending on the

screening modality used (e.g., electronic, self-administered, clinician administered).

Considerations may include:

- If a student completed a self-administered electronic screen, how and when will staff follow up with the student to connect them to resources?
- If a student is referred to off-campus services based on their screen, will there be any follow up communication between campus staff, the student, or the local provider?
- Will any information pertaining to screening results be communicated to other college staff, student caregivers, or other forms of student support systems?





Based on the logistics of your screening strategy, identify who will be administering the screening measures (e.g., mental health professionals, faculty members, or college administrators) and ensure thorough training is given to these individuals. Beyond this, it's important to

consider what information other college faculty and staff might need to know to support the screening initiative and address any questions that arise from students.

Although an individual doesn't have to be a mental health provider to administer screenings to students, these professionals are often positioned best for this role given their background experience with mental health. Mental health screens can sometimes lead students to disclose challenges and adverse experiences to the individual administering the screen, making it imperative that staff are properly trained on how to support students through mental health crises.



Foster Campus Support for Screening

Creating a campus culture that's supportive of screening can be critical to the success of your screening initiative. One step of this is to strategically plan how your college will communicate the screening initiative to students, staff, and other members of the campus community. This may include announcements and social media messages about the screening initiative that are targeted towards encouraging

students to screen and reminding them of the importance of this. Including students in this messaging can help influence other students to complete screens - for example, some colleges have students serve as a sort of peer wellness influencer to bridge the gap between staff and students.

Regardless of the screening strategy used, encouraging students to meaningfully and honestly engage with the screening process also involves supportive messaging from faculty and staff. For example, instructors reminding students of upcoming opportunities to complete mental health screens - or even completing a screen themselves - can help embed support for screening within your campus culture.



Consider Piloting the Screening Process

In order to minimize unexpected challenges, consider testing your screening process with a smaller group of students prior to fully launching this screening. One way you might do this is through a student focus group. Information to gather from a pilot of the

screening process may include students' perceptions of the screening method and tool, privacy and data confidentiality concerns, and how likely students may be to access mental health resources after the screening.

EMPIRICALLY SUPPORTED SCREENING TOOLS

Below is a collection of mental health screening tools that your college might use when screening students. This inventory is not an exhaustive list of all screening tools that could be used, but rather a selection curated for community college contexts due to each tool's empirical support, target age range, cost, and availability.

Counseling Center Assessment of Psychological Symptoms (CCAPS) Screen

The CCAPS-Screen is a mental health screening instrument that assesses the most common domains of distress experienced by college students. The CCAPS-Screen is a 36-item instrument with eight subscales as well as an item related to the report of Suicidal Ideation within the last two weeks.

Administration:

Can be either self administered or clinican administered

Platform:

Electronic / web-based

Cost:

Variable: based on institution size.

MindWise College Screening Tool

The MindWise screening tool is an online questionnaire that allows students to assess their current mental health, get tailored informational materials, and be connected to resources. Colleges can customize the MindWise screening tool with their logo and custom resources, while administrators receive access to anonymous screening reports.

Administration:

Self-administered

Platform:

Electronic / web-based

Cost:

Variable: \$1,500 - \$2,000

Mental Health America Screening

Mental Health America offers a collection of free, web-based screenings that can be completed by anyone wondering if they might be experiencing a mental health condition. After each mental health screen, users see information, resources, and tools to help understand and improve their mental health.

Administration:

Self-administered

Platform:

Electronic / web-based

Cost:

No cost

Patient Health
Questionnaire 9-Item
Scale (PHQ-9)

<u>Generalized Anxiety</u> <u>Disorder 7-Item Scale</u> (GAD-7) Alcohol Use Disorders
Identification Test
(AUDIT)

Screening Tool

The Accountable Health
Communities HealthRelated Social Needs
(ACH-HRSN) Screening
Tool

Satisfaction with Life Scale

Adverse Childhood

Experiences (ACES)

Screening Tool

The Structured Trauma
Related Experiences
Symptoms Screener
(STRESS)

Columbia Suicide
Severity Rating Scale
(CSSRS)

ADDITIONAL RESOURCES

This toolkit was created by adapting existing best practice resource guides on mental health screening using expertise from the MHICC research team and professional experience from topic experts at local colleges in order to be specific to Michigan community colleges interested in implementing evidence based screening strategies on their campus. For further information, the resources used to inform this guide can be accessed below:

California Community Colleges Health & Wellness (2019). *California Community College Mental Health Screening Tools*. Retrieved from: https://www.cccstudentmentalhealth.org/docs/CCC-MH-Screening-Tools.pdf

Center for School Mental Health (2018). School Mental Health Screening Playbook: Best Practices and Tips from the Field. Retrieved from:

http://csmh.umaryland.edu/media/SOM/Microsites/CSMH/docs/Reports/School-Mental-Health-Screening-Playbook.pdf

Comprehensive Center Network (n.d.). *Choosing and Using Screeners and Assessments*. Michigan Department of Education. Retrieved from:

https://www.michigan.gov/mde/-/media/Project/Websites/mde/ohns/School-Health-and-Safety/Choosing-and-Using-Screeners-and-Assessments.pdf?
rev=ad07be15c69b4724a0a6bfea50f0d066&hash=D26862FA9F353E72DF11A27338FF1408

National Center for School Mental Health (2023). *School Mental Health Quality Guide: Screening.* NCSMH, University of Maryland School of Medicine. Retrieved from: https://www.schoolmentalhealth.org/media/som/microsites/ncsmh/documents/quality-guides/Screening.pdf

Romer, N., von der Embse, N., Eklund, K., Kilgus, S., Perales, K., Splett, J. W., Sudlo, S., Wheeler, D. (2020). *Best Practices in Social, Emotional, and Behavioral Screening: An Implementation Guide. Version 2.0.* Retrieved from: https://smhcollaborative.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/universalscreening.pdf

REFERENCES

- 1. Lipson, S.K., Phillips, M.V., Winquist, N., Eisenberg, D., & Lattie, E.G. (2021). Mental health conditions among community college students: A national study of prevalence and use of treatment services. *Psychiatric Services*, *72*(10): 1126-1133. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.202000437
- 2. Katz, D.S., & Davison, K. (2014). Community college student mental health: A comparative analysis. *Community College Review*, 42(4), 307-326. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091552114535466
- 3. Eisenberg, D., Goldrick-Rab, S., Lipson, S.K., & Broton, K. (2016). *Too distressed to learn?*Mental health among community college students. Association of Community College

 Trustees. Retrieved from: https://saragoldrickrab.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/Too Distressed to Learn Mental Health Am.pdf
- 4. Sontag-Padilla, L., Woodbridge, M. W., Mendelsohn, J., D'Amico, E. J., Osilla, K. C., Jaycox, L. H., ... & Stein, B. D. (2016). Factors affecting mental health service utilization among California public college and university students. *Psychiatric services*, *67*(8), 890-897.
- 5. Arria, A.M., Caldeira, K.M., Vincent, K.B., Winick, E.R., Baron, R.A., O'Grady, K.E. (2013). Discontinuous college enrollment: Associations with substance use and mental health. *Psychiatric Services*, *64*, 165-172.
- 6. Eisenberg, D., Golberstein, E. & Hunt, J. (2009). Mental health and academic success in college. *The B.E. Journal of Economic Analysis & Policy, 9*(1). https://doi-org.proxy.lib.umich.edu/10.2202/1935-1682.2191
- 7. Latz, A.O. (2023). Community College Student Mental Health: Faculty Experiences and Institutional Actions. Rowan & Littlefield Publishing.
- 8. Kim, E., Coumar, A., Lober, W.B., Kim, Y. (2011). Addressing mental health epidemic among university students via web-based, self-screening, and referral system: A preliminary study. *IEEE Transactions on Information Technology in Biomedicine*, 15(2), 301-307. https://doi.org/10.1109/TITB.2011.2107561
- 9. Forbes, F. J. M., Whisenhunt, B. L., Citterio, C., Jordan, A. K., Robinson, D., & Deal, W. P. (2019). Making mental health a priority on college campuses: implementing large scale screening and follow-up in a high enrollment gateway course. *Journal of American College Health*, 69(3), 275–282. https://doi-org.proxy.lib.umich.edu/10.1080/07448481.2019.1665051

- 10. Garcia, C., Busch, D.W., Russell, N.G. (2023). Best practices for depression screening among college Students: A literature review. *Journal of Psychosocial Nursing and Mental Health Services*, 62(6),13–17. https://doi.org/10.3928/02793695-20231024-02
- 11. Goodman-Scott, E., Donohue, P., & Betters-Bubon, J. (2019). The case for universal mental health screening in schools. *Counseling Today*, 62(3), 40-45.
- 12. Burns, J.R., & Rapee, R.M. (2021). From barriers to implementation: Advancing universal mental health screening in schools. *Journal of Psychologists and Counselors in Schools*, 31(2), 172–183. https://doi.org/10.1017/jgc.2021.17
- 13. Córdova Olivera, P., Gasser Gordillo, P., Naranjo Mejía, H., La Fuente Taborga, I., Grajeda Chacón, A., & Sanjinés Unzueta, A. (2023). Academic stress as a predictor of mental health in university students. *Cogent Education, 10*(2). https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2023.2232686
- 14. Barbayannis, G., Bandari, M., Zheng, X., Baquerizo H., Pecor, K.W., Ming, X. (2022). Academic stress and mental well-being in college students: Correlations, affected groups, and COVID-19. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.886344
- 15. Leung, C.W., Farooqui, S., Wolfson, J.A., Cohen, A.J. (2021). Understanding the cumulative burden of basic needs insecurities: Associations with health and academic achievement among college students. *American Journal of Health Promotion, 35*(2), 275-278. https://doi.org10.1177/0890117120946210
- 16. Fortney, J.C., Curran, G.M., Hunt, J.B., Cheney, A.M., Lu, L., Valenstein, M., Eisenberg, D. (2016). Prevalence of probable mental disorders and help-seeking behaviors among veteran and non-veteran community college students. *General Hospital Psychiatry, 38,* 99-104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2015.09.007
- 17. Valenstein, M., Clive, R., Ganoczy, D., Garlick, J., Walters, H. M., West, B. T., ... Pfeiffer, P. N. (2020). A nationally representative sample of veteran and matched non-veteran college students: Mental health symptoms, suicidal ideation, and mental health treatment. *Journal of American College Health, 70*(2), 436–445. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2020.1753751
- 18. Hofmann B. (2023). To consent or not to consent to screening, that is the question. *Healthcare*, 11(7), 982. https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare11070982

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The MHICC team would like to acknowledge the invaluable support in creating this toolkit that was provided by mental health and higher education professionals from Michigan and across the United States, including but not limited to: Precious Miller, LMSW; Leslie Navarro, LMSW; Amy Reddinger, PhD; Melissa Selby-Theut, LMSW; Chris Stroven, MA, LPC; & Melissa Ware, LMSW.



mentalhealthcc.org



mhiccteam@umich.edu



@mentalhealth_cc

